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INTRODUCTION 

 In the wake of Bernie Madoff’s $50 billon Ponzi scheme and the global financial crisis of 

2008, the world has renewed its focus on combatting investment fraud and restoring investor 

confidence in markets.
2
  Unregulated or informal investment schemes generally promise 

investors extraordinarily high returns on asset pooling, financial instruments, foreign currency 

exchange trading, and real estate investment, while ultimately proving to be fraudulent artifices 

often leading to significant financial, social, and legal ruin.
3
  Perpetrators face serious civil and 

criminal penalties, including charges of securities, mail, bank, and wire fraud, along with 

conspiracy and money laundering charges.
4
   

While such schemes present a global concern, developing Caribbean economies with less 

established regulatory frameworks remain particularly vulnerable.
5
  From 2004 to 2008, 

Jamaican-born David A. Smith and his private investment club Olint ran a foreign exchange 

Ponzi scheme that bilked over 6,000 investors in Jamaica, The Turks and Caicos Islands, the 

U.S., and elsewhere out of between USD $220 million and $1 billion.
6
  In addition to defrauding 

investors, Smith conspired to launder the proceeds that were received in his scam, laundering 

millions of dollars obtained as a result of wire fraud.  While unregulated, Caribbean-based 

schemes are typically run by foreigners in major cities around the world, Olint’s victims and 

perpetrators were locals or Caribbean ex-pats living in Florida.
7
  The Olint scheme highlights the 

importance of regulatory oversight on a transnational level, and the pressing need for financial 

reform throughout the Caribbean.   

This article will begin by providing background material on Ponzi schemes and their role 

in the Caribbean.  It will then develop a detailed timeline of Olint and Smith’s operations and 

protracted legal battles from inception through to the present.  The article will go on to provide a 

comparative legal analysis of the response taken by regulators and courts throughout the 

Caribbean and in the U.S., assessing each country’s ability to combat Ponzi schemes.  The work 

will conclude by offering suggestions for reform in order to prevent another Olint from harming 

investors.    

                                                 
2
 See generally Scam of the Century: Bernie Madoff’s Crime and Punishment, CNBC (last visited May 1, 2011), 

http://www.cnbc.com/id/28256310; Financial Stress, Downturns, and Recoveries, World Econ. Outlook (Int’l 

Monetary Fund, Oct. 2008), http://www.imf.org/external/pubs/ft/weo/2008/02/pdf/text.pdf.  
3
 Ana Carvajal et al, Ponzi Schemes in the Caribbean 31 (Int’l Monetary Fund, Working Paper, Apr. 2009), 

available at http://www.imf.org/external/pubs/ft/wp/2009/wp0995.pdf.  
4
 Lee M. Cortes, Jr., Ponzi Schemes Revisited.  16 No. 6 Bus. Crimes Bull. 5 (Feb., 2009); 

5
 Hunter Monroe et al., Perils of Ponzis, FINANCE & DEVELOPMENT 37, 39, Mar. 2010, available at 

http://www.imf.org/external/pubs/ft/fandd/2010/03/pdf/monroe.pdf.  
6
 Kevin Gray & Pascal Fletcher, U.S. Seeks Extradition of Caribbean Ponzi Schemer, FOX BUS., Aug. 27, 2010, 

http://www.foxbusiness.com/markets/2010/08/27/seeks-extradition-caribbean-ponzi-schemer/.  
7
 Investors Scramble to Recover up to US$1 bn as Caribbean Forex Scam Collapses, OFFSHORE ALERT, Oct. 31, 

2008, http://www.offshorealert.com/OAsampleIssue.pdf.   

http://www.cnbc.com/id/28256310
http://www.imf.org/external/pubs/ft/weo/2008/02/pdf/text.pdf
http://www.imf.org/external/pubs/ft/wp/2009/wp0995.pdf
http://www.imf.org/external/pubs/ft/fandd/2010/03/pdf/monroe.pdf
http://www.foxbusiness.com/markets/2010/08/27/seeks-extradition-caribbean-ponzi-schemer/
http://www.offshorealert.com/OAsampleIssue.pdf
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PONZI SCHEMES 

 A Ponzi scheme is a type of financial fraud that lures investors by promising 

extraordinarily high returns on their money.
8
  “The fraud consists of funneling proceeds received 

from new investors to previous investors in the guise of profits from the alleged business 

venture, thereby cultivating an illusion that a legitimate profit-making business opportunity 

exists and inducing further investment.”
9
  As distinguished from a Pyramid scheme, where 

member recruitment drives the flow of payments upward to earlier members, Ponzi schemes pool 

investor money and can take in unlimited amounts of money from an individual investor.
10

  

While some start out as legitimate investments, most Ponzis are outright frauds and are insolvent 

from day one.
11

  The underlying investment opportunity pitched to investors, and the 

accompanying means by which the scheme is affected, can be traditional or extravagant 

depending on the skill of the perpetrator and knowledge base of the investors.   

The lifecycle of a Ponzi scheme can be thought of in four stages: initiation, validation, 

rapid expansion, and collapse.
12

  During the initiation phase, only the promoter and a close circle 

of handpicked associates are aware of the scheme.  To attract investors during the validation 

stage, promoters spread rumors of high returns and safe underlying investments.  Then the 

scheme rapidly expands—principals will typically live lavish lifestyles to reassure investors of 

profitability, and tend to be regarded as pillars of their communities.
13

  The schemes often target 

victims through a common ethnicity, profession, or affinity, with promoters earning commissions 

for recruiting members.
14

  The internet has also fueled the recent success of Ponzi schemes, as 

password-protected websites and online investment account statements comfort victims and 

reinforce the belief that their money is safe and their investment is generating returns. 

Ponzi schemes collapse when too many investors withdraw or stop investing new money, 

or when regulators intervene.
15

  Investors begin to withdraw money when excuses surface for 

nonpayment, reports emerge of dishonored checks or delayed payments, or when the promoter 

disappears.
16

  While some investors are lucky to withdraw their initial investment or a large 

portion thereof, many individuals lose their life savings.  The consequences of Ponzi schemes not 

only affect the individuals involved, but ultimately undermine confidence in the financial 

                                                 
8
 Cortes, supra note 3; Cunningham v. Brown, 265 U.S. 1, 7-10 (1924) (Charles Ponzi was an Italian immigrant who 

created a fraudulent investment scheme with postal coupons in the 1920s based in Boston). 
9
 In re United Energy Corp., 944 F.2d 589, 590 n.1 (Cal. Ct. App. 1991).   

10
 Carvajal, supra note 3, at 6.  

11
 Cortes, supra note 3; Carvajal, supra note 3, at 4. 

12
 Janice P. Holness, The Jamaican Experience 23, available at 

http://www.cartac.org/UserFiles/File/Unregulated%20Investment%20Schemes%20in%20Jamaica%20-

%20Janice%20Holness.pdf.  
13

 Jeff Sonn, Ponzi Schemes—Picking Up the Pieces from a Fallen House Of Cards.  1755 PLI/Corp. 443 (2009), at 

446; Monroe, supra note 5, at 38 (noting that David Smith was heralded by a newspaper as business personality of 

the year in Jamaica).   
14

 Sonn, supra note 13, at 446-7.   
15

 Monroe, supra note 5, at 37. 
16

 Holness, supra note 12.  

http://www.cartac.org/UserFiles/File/Unregulated%20Investment%20Schemes%20in%20Jamaica%20-%20Janice%20Holness.pdf
http://www.cartac.org/UserFiles/File/Unregulated%20Investment%20Schemes%20in%20Jamaica%20-%20Janice%20Holness.pdf
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markets and the reputation of the regulatory entities that failed to protect investors.  As the Olint 

story will highlight, Ponzi schemes are increasing international in nature and the effects of an 

unregulated investment scheme in Jamaica of the Turks and Caicos Islands can span the globe.   

Susceptibility of the Caribbean 

Developing or less industrialized countries are historically more vulnerable to Ponzi 

schemes than more developed countries.
17

  Regulators in these countries lack the resources, 

enforcement mechanisms, and often political independence to combat financial fraud, and their 

financial institutions and regulatory responses are relatively underdeveloped.
18

  Low financial 

literacy also plays role, as investors may not understand how financial markets operate and are 

suspicious of state agencies trying to curtail entrepreneurial drive.
19

  Low salaries and high job 

turnover cause individuals to look for other sources of income and fall prey to get-rich-quick 

schemes.  Political corruption and gaps in legislation allow the schemes to flourish.    

The Caribbean has evolved over the years into a center for "offshore" capitalism, with a 

network of tax havens and finance centers that form the shadow side of the world's banks and 

multinational corporations.
20

  Seventy-five percent of the world’s hedge funds are based in four 

Caribbean tax havens: the Cayman Islands, Bermuda, the British Virgin Islands, and the 

Bahamas.
21

  Trillions of dollars in both corporate and personal wealth have migrated offshore, 

with one study estimating that one-third of global assets are held offshore, $11.5 trillion in 

individual wealth alone.
22

   

Ponzi schemes are not a new concept in the Caribbean.  In Jamaica, for example, the 

collapse of large-scale, informal, high yield investment schemes date back to 2001, with 

Community Partner Club, Revolving Plan, and Speedy Cash being some of the earliest 

documented.
23

  Olint, Cash Plus World Wise, and LewFam, took in an estimated $1 billon and 

caused losses as high as 12.5% of Jamaica’s GDP.
24

  Although the Jamaican government has 

issued strong comments and warned that it will not allow unregulated entities to “elude 

oversight”, unregulated schemes remain attractive to Jamaican investors, numbering 59 on the 

                                                 
17

 Monroe, supra note 5, at 39. 
18

 Id. at 3 
19

 Holness, supra note 12, at 10. 
20

 William Brittain-Catlin, How Offshore Capitalism Ate Our Economies—and itself, THE GUARDIAN, Feb. 5, 2009, 

http://www.guardian.co.uk/commentisfree/2009/feb/05/offshore-tax-havens.  
21

 Rachel Keeler, Tax Havens and The Financial Crisis, DOLLARS & SENSE (2009) 

http://www.dollarsandsense.org/archives/2009/0509keeler.html.  
22

 Id.  
23

 Investigating Informal Investment Schemes in Jamaica 11, Caribbean Policy Research Institute (Jan. 7, 2008), 

http://www.capricaribbean.org/research/informal-investment; See also J$200b in Investment Schemes in Jamaica—

Study, JAM. GLEANER, Jan. 18, 2008, http://jamaica-gleaner.com/gleaner/20080118/news/news7.html; Sabrina M. 

Gordon, Few Dangers Seen from Olint's Slide, JAM. GLEANER, Jul. 18, 2008, http://jamaica-

gleaner.com/gleaner/20080718/business/business6.html. 
24

 Monroe, supra note 5, at 37.   

http://www.guardian.co.uk/commentisfree/2009/feb/05/offshore-tax-havens
http://www.dollarsandsense.org/archives/2009/0509keeler.html
http://www.capricaribbean.org/research/informal-investment
http://jamaica-gleaner.com/gleaner/20080118/news/news7.html
http://jamaica-gleaner.com/gleaner/20080718/business/business6.html
http://jamaica-gleaner.com/gleaner/20080718/business/business6.html
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FSC’s books as of November 2009.
25

  Olint is just scratching the surface, however, when it 

comes to Caribbean-based Ponzi schemes—Allen Stanford’s Antiguan-based Ponzi raked in over 

$5 billion by the time the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) stepped in.
26

   

OLINT: 

DAVID A. SMITH 

David Andrew Smith was born in Jamaica on April 15, 1969, attending Wolmer’s Boys’ 

School and the University of Technology, Jamaica; he has four children with his wife Tracy-

Ann.
27

  After working at the Bank of Jamaica and as a trader at Jamaica Money Market Brokers 

(JMMB), Smith became very involved with his church and sought to enhance his reputation in 

the community.  As Olint started taking in money from investors, it allowed Smith to sponsor a 

local soccer team and make generous political and philanthropic contributions, earning him 

media praise as CBR’s Business Personality of 2006.
28

   

Smith was a charismatic man who one anonymous investor described as promising the 

church community a trip to the “financial Promised Land”; people apparently just followed 

Smith like the Pied Piper, volunteering to give him money without solicitation.  
29

 Smith was a 

prominent supporter of a church attended by wealth Jamaicans, and it is rumored that his backing 

was so strong that some investors even sold their homes and invested the proceeds with Smith.
30

  

Olint was believed to be safest among the schemes given that foreign exchange trading is an 

international activity.
31

  A statement from Wayne Smith, David’s brother, highlights the pitch 

used to lure investors: “the ordinary man now realises [sic] that there are now greater earning 

possibilities and does not have to live with the five percent per annum return, but now can realise 

[sic] larger returns and accomplish dreams and goals of buying a house, educating children, 

helping relatives, and financing a business.”
32

   

                                                 
25

 Christopher Serju, They Didn’t Learn—Jamaicans Still Investing in Unregulated Financial Schemes, JAM. 

GLEANER, Mar. 7, 2011, http://jamaica-gleaner.com/gleaner/20110307/lead/lead1.html;  

See also Unregistered Financial Organizations as of November 2009, JAM. FIN. SERV. COMM’N, Jan. 1, 2009, 

http://www.fscjamaica.org/content.php?action=readnews&section_id=&id=303&title=news; Edmond Campbell, 

Government Walks Fine Line - Cabinet Throws Support Behind FSC - Leaves Room for Legal Operation of 

Investment Schemes in Jamaica, JAM. GLEANER, Jan. 9, 2008, http://jamaica-

gleaner.com/gleaner/20080109/lead/lead1.html.  
26

 Alison Fitzgerald & Michael Forsythe, Stanford Coaxed $5bn as SEC Weighed Powers, BLOOMBERG, Apr. 16, 

2009, http://www.bloomberg.com/apps/news?pid=21070001&sid=aVCxRFrq1FPU.   
27

 Q&A: David Smith & Olint, Ass’n Concerned Olint Members (last visited May 1, 2011), 

http://acomaction.com/index.php/qaa/david-smith-a-olint.html.  
28

 Holness, supra note 12, at 10-14, 24. 
29

 Tyrone Reid, I Believed in David”—Olint Investors Losing Hope, JAM. GLEANER, Feb. 8, 2009, http://jamaica-

gleaner.com/gleaner/20060312/business/business2.html.  
30

 Gray, supra note 6. 
31

 Gordon, supra note 23.   
32

 Olint Members Back David Smith, JAM. GLEANER, Mar. 12, 2006, http://jamaica-

gleaner.com/gleaner/20060312/business/business2.html.   

http://jamaica-gleaner.com/gleaner/20110307/lead/lead1.html
http://www.fscjamaica.org/content.php?action=readnews&section_id=&id=303&title=news
http://jamaica-gleaner.com/gleaner/20080109/lead/lead1.html
http://jamaica-gleaner.com/gleaner/20080109/lead/lead1.html
http://www.bloomberg.com/apps/news?pid=21070001&sid=aVCxRFrq1FPU
http://acomaction.com/index.php/qaa/david-smith-a-olint.html
http://jamaica-gleaner.com/gleaner/20060312/business/business2.html
http://jamaica-gleaner.com/gleaner/20060312/business/business2.html
http://jamaica-gleaner.com/gleaner/20060312/business/business2.html
http://jamaica-gleaner.com/gleaner/20060312/business/business2.html
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OLINT JAMAICA  

Overview of Operations and Timeline of Events 

In approximately January of 2004, David Smith started an investment club with family and 

friends, drawing on his experience as a licensed trader with JMMB where he had specialized in 

international foreign currency exchange trading.
33

  On February 3, 2005, Smith established 

Overseas Locket International Corporation (Olint) Panama, with its principal place of business in 

Kingston Jamaica, for the purposes trading on behalf of club members.
34

  Olint was held out to 

be as a private members investment club engaging in foreign currency (Forex, or FX) trading, 

promising investors high annual returns in excess of ten percent with only twenty percent of their 

investment at risk.
35

  Smith explained to investors that high returns were based on Olint’s ability 

to secure fifty-to-one margin leverage on its trading accounts.
36

   

On October 13, 2005, Smith established Olint Corporation (Olint Corp.) in Jamaica as an 

agent of Olint, to serve as a customer service liaison for club members and provide access to 

account information.
37

  Each investor signed a Private Club Member Agreement with Olint, 

whereby Olint agreed to pool investor funds to hedge highly speculative and risky currency 

positions.
38

  Membership grew by word of mouth and drew mostly from personal contacts, as all 

club members were required to be vouched for by a principal member.
39

  Olint also accepted 

money from other private investment groups or “feeder” clubs, which blossomed when Olint 

Corp. came under regulatory scrutiny.
40

   

                                                 
33

 Olint Corp. Ltd. & David Smith v. Fin. Serv. Comm’n (Olint III), No. JMCA Civ. 44, at para. 4 (Jam. Ct. App. 

Dec. 2010); Hayden Boyce, Helen Garlick Takes Over David Smith Case, TURKS & CAICOS SUN, March 26, 2010, 

http://www.suntci.com/index.php?p=story&id=761.  
34

 Info. at 1, U.S. v. David A. Smith, No. 6:10cr-232-MSS-DAB (M.D. Fla. Aug. 18, 2010) [hereinafter Info.] 
35

 Id. at 10; The Foreign Exchange Market in the U.S., FEDERAL RESERVE BANK OF NY (1998), 

http://www.newyorkfed.org/education/addpub/usfxm/; Introduction to the Forex Market, FOREX.COM, 

http://www.forex.com/intro-forex-market.html (Foreign exchange refers to exchanging money denominated in one 

currency for money denominated in a different currency on an over-the-counter market. Foreign exchange can take 

the form of cash, bank deposits, credit cards, and other short-term instruments.  The international foreign currency 

market is a $2 trillion per day business, the largest and most liquid financial market in the world.); Elizabeth Smith, 

Forex Investment Market, http://www.nuwireinvestor.com/articles/forex-investment-market-51165.aspx 
36

 JOSEPH P. CONNOLLY, OLINT TCI CORP. LTD.: OFFICIAL LIQUIDATOR’S FIRST INTERIM REPORT TO THE SUP. CT. 

OF THE TURKS & CAICOS IS. 11 (Aug. 06, 2009) [hereinafter LIQUIDATOR I], available at 

http://olinttciliquidation.com/uploads/Olint_TCI_-_Official_Liquidator_First_Interim_Report__pdf_.pdf.  
37

 Info., supra note 34. 
38

 Olint III, supra note 33, at para. 3.   
39

 Id. at 4; Olint Corp. Ltd. & David Smith v. Fin. Serv. Comm’n (Olint II), No. HCV 01365, at 14 (Jam. Sup. Ct. 

Dec. 24, 2007).   
40

 JOSEPH P. CONNOLLY, OLINT TCI CORP. LTD.: OFFICIAL LIQUIDATOR’S SECOND INTERIM REPORT TO THE SUP. CT. 

OF THE TURKS & CAICOS IS. 5 (Nov. 19, 2009), available at 

http://olinttciliquidation.com/uploads/Olint_TCI_Liquidator_s_Second_Interim_Report_-

_Published_30_November_2009.pdf.  

http://www.suntci.com/index.php?p=story&id=761
http://www.newyorkfed.org/education/addpub/usfxm/
http://www.forex.com/intro-forex-market.html
http://www.nuwireinvestor.com/articles/forex-investment-market-51165.aspx
http://olinttciliquidation.com/uploads/Olint_TCI_-_Official_Liquidator_First_Interim_Report__pdf_.pdf
http://olinttciliquidation.com/uploads/Olint_TCI_Liquidator_s_Second_Interim_Report_-_Published_30_November_2009.pdf
http://olinttciliquidation.com/uploads/Olint_TCI_Liquidator_s_Second_Interim_Report_-_Published_30_November_2009.pdf
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Olint Corp. appeared to have broad infrastructure in Jamaica, enhancing its appearance as a 

legitimate business.
41

  To conceal the fraud, Olint Corp. staffed its Jamaican office with 

employees who opened client accounts, processed redemptions, and spoke with clients 

telephonically regarding foreign exchange and investment performance.
42

  Olint Corp. operated 

without investment adviser or securities dealer licenses.
43

   

The Financial Services Commission (FSC), Jamaica’s regulatory body for its securities, 

insurance, and pension industries, began investigating Olint Corp. as membership grew to 3,023 

members and customer complaints surfaced regarding requests for withdrawals.
44

  On March 3 

and 6, 2006, the FSC, assisted by the local police (Jamaica Constabulary Force) and the 

Financial Investigations Division (within the Ministry of Finance), raided Olint Corp.’s offices 

pursuant to search warrants, seizing books, account statements, records, and other documents.
45

  

The warrants were issued for suspected offenses of Sections 7 and 8 of the Securities Act dealing 

with licensing requirements.
46

  Smith challenged these warrants and litigation ensued.
47

   

Based on its review of the seized information, the FSC issued cease and desist orders on 

March 24, 2006 against Olint, Olint Corp., and David Smith et al.
48

  The FSC has power to issue 

cease and desist orders under the Securities Act and Financial Service Commission Act.
49

  Olint 

was ordered to cease and desist from: 

(a) dealing in securities, in the form of investment contracts, with members of the public 

without being licensed to do so; 

(b) providing investment advice to members of the public concerning the investment of funds 

in investment contracts issued by the entities without being licensed to do so.
50

   

On March 27, 2006, Olint’s attorneys applied to the FSC for a stay of the execution of cease 

and desist order, however the FSC refused Olint’s application on March 30, 2006.
51

  On April 7, 

2006, Olint filed an appeal in the Jamaican Supreme Court, seeking a stay of the execution of the 

cease and desist order until March 26, 2007, with a hearing to be held on August 8, 2006 before 

                                                 
41

 Amy Pavuk, Jamaican Banker Pleads Guilty in $220M Scheme that Affected Thousands, ORLANDO SENTINEL, 

Mar.29, 2011, http://www.orlandosentinel.com/news/crime/os-ponzi-david-smith-20110329,0,7910391.story.  
42

 Plea at 21, U.S. (No. 6:10-cr-232-Orl-35DAB) [hereinafter Plea.] 
43

 Olint III, supra note 33, at para. 4. 
44

 Olint II, supra note 39, at 38. 
45

 Olint Corp. Ltd. & David Smith v. Fin. Serv. Comm’n (Olint I), No. HCV 01365, at para. 4 (Jam. Sup. Ct. Nov. 3, 

2006). 
46

 News Release, Jam. Fin. Serv. Comm’n, Court Rules to Grant Olint Stay of Execution (Nov 3, 2006), 

http://www.fscjamaica.org/content.php?action=readnews&id=209. 
47

 Jam. Info. Serv., Court rejects OLINT Corp's injunction against FSC, JAM. OBSERVER, Mar. 20, 2006, 

http://www.jamaicaobserver.com/news/100964_Court-rejects-OLINT-Corp-s-injunction-against-FSC. 
48

 Jam. Fin. Serv. Comm’n, supra note 46. 
49

 JAM. SEC. ACT (2001); JAM. FIN. SERV. COMM’N ACT (2004). 
50

 Jam. Fin. Serv. Comm’n, supra note 46, at 2-3. 
51

 Olint I, supra note 45, at paras. 7-8. 

http://www.orlandosentinel.com/news/crime/os-ponzi-david-smith-20110329,0,7910391.story
http://www.fscjamaica.org/content.php?action=readnews&id=209
http://www.jamaicaobserver.com/news/100964_Court-rejects-OLINT-Corp-s-injunction-against-FSC
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Judge Mangatal.
52

  Olint claimed its activities did not require a license and did not constitute a 

securities business under the Securities Act.
53

   

On Nov 3, 2006, the Jamaica Supreme Court granted Olint’s application for a stay of the 

cease and desist order until March 26, 2007 or further order, on the condition that there be no 

increase in club membership.
54

  On March 27-28, 2007, Olint appealed the cease and desist order 

to the Jamaica Supreme Court, heard by Judge Norma McIntosh in chambers—the court ordered 

that the stay continue until June 4, 2007, when it would resume hearing the appeal.
55

  On June 4-

7, 2007, the Jamaica Supreme Court resumed hearings, and on December 24, 2007, Olint’s 

appeal was dismissed, with the court finding sufficient justification for the FSC’s cease and 

desist orders; Olint was able, however, to obtain a six week extension of stay, effective 

December 24.
56

   

Olint then appealed to the Jamaica Court of Appeal and on February 5, 2008, the Court 

granted a stay of the execution of the lower court’s order to remain in force until all appeals had 

been fully heard and determined.
57

  Judge Dukharan ordered that there be no increase in Olint’s 

membership or clientele, and that a list of members be filed with the FSC and court registry.
58

  

On February 8, 2008, the FSC filed its counter notice of appeal, and the Court of Appeal began 

its hearings on February 9.
59

  In May and June of 2008, some reports indicated that Olint was 

failing to make payments to its investors, and in July 2008, Olint closed its Jamaica offices.
60

  On 

December 7, 2009, Justice Brown of the Jamaica Supreme Court ordered Olint assets frozen, 

restraining the Smiths, Olint Corp., and Olint TCI from withdrawing or transferring funds from 

any of their accounts.
61

  Finally on December 13, 2010, the Court of Appeal upheld the Supreme 

Court’s enforcement of the cease and desist orders.
62

  

National Commercial Bank Jamaica Ltd.  

 Another factor which prolonged Olint Corp.’s operations in Jamaica was the Jamaican 

court system’s controversial grant of Olint Corp.’s ex-parte motions for injunctive relief to 

prevent closure of Olint Corp.’s bank accounts with the National Commercial Bank Jamaica Ltd. 

                                                 
52

 Id. at para. 9. 
53

 Olint III, supra note 33, at paras. 18-20. 
54

 Olint I, supra note 45, at para. 67; Olint II, supra note 39, at 4. 
55

 Press Release, Jam. Fin. Serv. Comm’n, OLINT and Lewfam Appeal Hearing (Apr. 5, 2007), 

http://www.fscjamaica.org/content.php?action=readnews&id=256.  
56

 Olint II, supra note 39, at 106.  
57

 Breathing Room for Olint, JAM. GLEANER, Feb. 8, 2008, http://jamaica-

gleaner.com/gleaner/20080208/lead/lead7.html.  
58

 Id.  
59

 Olint III, supra note 33. 
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(NCB).  Olint Corp. opened accounts with NCB in November of 2005.
63

  With bad press 

mounting, NCB wrote Olint Corp on August 8, 2007 demanding to see the company’s audited 

accounts pursuant to Bank of Jamaica guidelines for combating money laundering and terrorist 

financing.
64

  Olint Corp. was not forthcoming and on November 14, 2007, NCB informed Olint 

Corp. that it would be closing its accounts effective December 17.
65

  On January 11, 2008, Olint 

Corp. applied ex-parte for an injunction—while initially dismissed on April 18
th

, the Court of 

Appeal granted the injunction on July 18, 2008.
66

  NCB appealed to the Privy Council (Jamaica’s 

final court of appeal), and their appeal was finally granted on April 28, 2009, with permission to 

close the accounts.
67

  In their ruling, their Lordships criticized Jamaica’s allowance of last-

minute ex parte motions made without notice to NCB, showing disregard for Rule 17.4(4) of the 

Civil Procedure Rules 2002.
68

   

Controversial Government Action or Inaction 

Despite the Court of Appeal’s ruling that the FSC had acted properly in issuing the cease and 

desist orders, the Director of Public Prosecutions (DPP) has failed to bring charges in Jamaica 

against Smith for breaches of the Securities Act.
69

  The DPP and the Bank of Jamaica (BOJ) 

have cooperated, however, in sharing documents and account information on Smith, his 

companies, and other named individuals including the son of a major figure in the Jamaica Labor 

Party.
70

  Given that Olint was one of the largest Ponzi schemes ever carried out in Jamaica, it 

remains unclear as to why Jamaican authorities have been reluctant to charge Smith, suggesting 

that the judiciary and government are content with foreign jurisdictions bringing Smith to 

justice.
71

  Or perhaps the DPP had money in Olint.
72

  The independence of the DPP is supposed 

to be entrenched in the Jamaican constitution.   

It is also possible that Jamaica was content to let the issue die down due to questionable 

behavior by the FSC.  While the Securities Act makes clear the FSC’s abilities to issue cease and 

desist orders (as the Court of Appeals reviewed), the FSC has relatively limited statutory 

authority.  Section 4(3)(a)(i) of the Securities Act states: 
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(3)  For the purposes of this Act the Commission shall— 

(a)  carry out such investigations and examinations in relation to the securities industry— 

(i)  as it considers necessary for the purpose of ascertaining whether the provisions of this 

Act are being complied with; or 

(ii)  as may be referred to it by the Minister in connection with that industry;
73

 

The Securities Act and the Jamaican Constitution, however, do not give the FSC police power.
74

  

Was the legal basis for the FSC’s raid communicated to the DPP prior to the search?  Why 

wasn’t Smith charged through the DPP prior to the raid?  This sentiment is evidenced by Junior 

Minister Errol Ennis statements describing the FSC raid as a “Gestapo-like invasion” and “a 

vulgar abuse of state power…reflective of the actions of a totalitarian state.”
75

  The Cabinet was 

quick to disassociate itself from these remarks, however, and attempted to reaffirm the Island’s 

confidence in the FSC’s activities.
76

  Nonetheless, questions remain surrounding the warrants 

and their execution.  

Jamaican Courts Look to U.S. Case Law for Guidance 

Under the Securities Act of Jamaica, securities are defined as: 

(a) debentures, stocks or bonds issued or proposed to be issued by a government; (b) 

debentures, stocks, shares, bonds or promissory notes issued or proposed to be issued by 

a company or unincorporated body; (c) documents or writings commonly known as 

securities or as the Minister may prescribe from time to time by order; (d) rights or 

options in respect of securities; (e)  certificates of interest or participation in any profit 

sharing agreement; (f) collateral trust certificates, preorganization certificates, or 

subscriptions, transferable shares, investment contracts, voting trust certificates or 

certificates of deposit for securities, but does not include—(g) stocks or shares of private 

companies; (h) futures contracts that are governed by any written law regulating trading 

in futures contracts; (i)  bills of exchange; (j) certificates of deposit issued by banks 

licensed under the Banking Act, or financial institutions licensed under the Financial 

Institutions Act; or (k) securities issued by the Bank of Jamaica.
77

   

A person or company qualifies as an “issuer” of securities if they have securities 

outstanding, or issue or propose to issue, a security or securities to the public.
78

  Securities 

dealers, investment advisers, issuers of securities, stock exchanges, and central securities 
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depositories must obtain licenses from the FSC.
79

  As far as the FSC is concerned, a public 

issuance of securities consists of any invitation to fifty or more persons, any general solicitation 

or advertisement for persons to participate in a securities offering, an offer to small investors, or 

an offer of any securities which do not have stringent resale restrictions.
80

   

 “Investment contract” is not a defined term in the Act and as such, the Jamaica Court of 

Appeal grappled with the issue.  Given that the definition of “securities” under the Jamaican Act 

is substantially similar to Section 2(1) of the U.S. ’33 Act, the Jamaican court looked to U.S. 

case law for guidance.
81

  In reaching their conclusion that Olint was dealing in securities, and 

thereby required to hold a dealer’s license, the court accepted the U.S Supreme Court’s holding 

in SEC v. W.J. Howey Co, 328 US 293 (1946).
82

  In Howey, the defendants owned citrus groves 

in Florida and attempted to sell real estate contracts for a portion of the property under a 

leaseback arrangement in order to finance the project.
83

  The Supreme Court formulated the 

famous test (Howey Test) for determining whether an instrument qualifies as an investment 

contract—there must be: 

(1) investment of money due to 

(2) an expectation of profits arising from 

(3) a common enterprise 

(4) which depends solely on the efforts of a promoter or third party.
84

 

In determining that Olint’s activities satisfied the Howey Test and required a securities license, 

therefore, the Jamaican Court of Appeal looked at the reality of the agreement with each 

customer and found the “members club” terminology used by Olint to be irrelevant.
85

  The fact 

that Smith was purportedly dealing in foreign exchange was not the issue—it was his method of 

doing business (or not doing business at all in this case) that encouraged persons to enter into 

profit sharing arrangements.
86

   

The Court of Appeals required much less discussion on the issue of whether Smith and 

Olint were engaged in the business of investment advice, also requiring registration and 

licensing.  Under Section 2(1) of the Securities Act of Jamaica, “Investment advice business” 

                                                 
79
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means the business of advising persons as to the investing in or the buying or selling of 

securities.
87

  The defendants claimed that the only advice they gave clients was the risk involved 

in investing with Olint—the court dismissed this argument (relying on the Jamaican Supreme 

Court’s analysis) holding that the substance of Olint’s business involved giving investment 

advice in that Olint acted on behalf of club members in deciding what trading positions to take 

without consulting members.
88

   

The Jamaican court system (in applying the Securities Act), therefore, ultimately reached 

the proper conclusion in this matter.  It was the corruption in the Offices of the Prime Minister 

and Director of Public Prosecutions who failed the Jamaican people through shirking their 

constitutional duty to prosecute the criminality of Olint Corp. and David Smith.   

Anti-Money Laundering 

In addition to controlling the licensing and investment operations of companies fraudulently 

dealing in banking or securities business, Jamaican regulators also have to ability to investigate 

the use of investor funds through anti-money laundering legislation.  The Proceeds of Crime Act, 

2007 imposes restrictions on financial institutions and provides a framework to prevent money 

laundering and recover assets under the Asset Recovery Program.
89

   

Under the Money Laundering Act of, a person engages in money laundering if that person: 

(a) engages in a transaction that involves property that is derived from the commission of 

a specified offence; or 

(b) acquires, possesses, uses, conceals, disguises, disposes of or brings into Jamaica, any 

such property; or 

(c) converts or transfers that property or removes it from Jamaica, 

and the person knows, at the time he engages in the transaction referred to in paragraph (a) 

or at the time he does any act referred to in paragraph (b) or (c), that the property is derived 

or realized directly, or indirectly from the commission of a specified offence.
90

   

The Ministry of Finance is responsible for Jamaica’s anti-money laundering framework, in 

coordination with various government ministries and agencies including: the Ministry of Finance 

& Planning (Financial Regulation Division), the Ministry of National Security, the Ministry of 

Justice, the Office of the Attorney General, the Ministry of Foreign Affairs, the Financial 

Investigations Division (FID), the National Anti-Money Laundering Committee, the Financial 

Crimes Legislative Task Force, the Jamaica Defense Force (JDF), the police, the Director of 

Public Prosecutions (DPP) and the  

                                                 
87
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supervisory agencies the BOJ and the FSC.
91

  The Financial Crimes Unit of the FID has the 

responsibility for the investigation of money laundering offences and can obtain search warrants, 

production, or monitoring orders.
92

   

While the money laundering issue was never addressed in Olint Corp.’s proceedings in 

Jamaica, as it was in the U.S. and Turks and Caicos Islands, the infrastructure does exist for 

regulators to use anti-money laundering provisions to criminalize the movement of funds 

associated with Ponzi schemes in Jamaica.  If convicted of money laundering before a Resident 

Magistrate, an individual will be liable for a fine not exceeding $3 million or to imprisonment for 

a term not exceeding five years, or to both.
93

  In the case of a corporate entity, the prescribed 

penalty is a fine not exceeding $5 million.
94

  If convicted on indictment before a Circuit Court an 

individual will be liable to a fine or imprisonment for a term not exceeding twenty years or to 

both such fine and imprisonment; a corporate entity will be liable to pay a fine.
95

 

ST. KITS AND NEVIS ISLANDS 

With Jamaican regulators breathing down its neck and the status of its appeal uncertain, Olint 

began to explore its options outside of Jamaica.  Olint attempted to move its operations to St. 

Kitts and Nevis in April of 2006, registering as an off shore company.
96

  The Financial 

Regulatory Department of The Ministry of Finance immediately intervened, however, warning 

the public that Olint required a license to conduct investment business and had failed to obtain 

one.
97

  The advisory posted on the St. Kitts financial regulator’s website on May 17, 2006 

appears to have prevented the scheme from taking root.
98

  The Islands’ ability to regulate Ponzi 

schemes will be discussed later in this article in a section dealing with the Eastern Caribbean 

Currency Union.   

OLINT TCI 

Overview of Operations and Timeline of Events 

On April 18, 2006, Smith succeeded in moving his operations to the Turks and Caicos 

Islands, starting Olint TCI Corp. Ltd. (Olint TCI).
99

  Olint TCI was set up to serve the same 
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purposes as Olint Jamaica—to act as an investment manager for funds solicited from public 

investors for the purported purposes of international foreign exchange trading.  Olint TCI would 

process investor funds through various intermediaries, mainly Hallmark Bank & Trust Co. 

Limited (Hallmark).  Smith then formed TCI FX Traders Ltd. (TCI FX) on August 15, 2006; 

Smith was a shareholder and director of both entities.
100

  TCI FX was granted a mutual fund 

license by the TCI Financial Services Commission (FSC) in October 2006.
101

  TCI FX was a 

vehicle for channeling funds to Olint TCI, which did not itself hold an FSC license.
102

  Despite 

this reality, Smith assured investors that Olint was licensed in both the Turks and Caicos and 

Jamaica after passing extensive background checks by various regulatory agencies.
103

  

In August 2006, i-Trade FX LLC (i-Trade), a U.S. company located in Florida, became 

licensed to trade foreign currency with the National Futures Association (NFA) as a Futures 

Commission Merchant; Smith was the majority capital investor in i-Trade, and Olint TCI and 

TCI FX both maintained accounts with i-Trade.
104

  Smith’s $2 mm capitalization enabled i-Trade 

to satisfy the NFA’s minimum capital requirements.
105

   

Despite being publicly chased out of Jamaica and St. Kitts and Nevis, Smith was able to 

hit the ground running in the TCI with no due diligence performed by regulators or investors.  

Smith continued his lifestyle of luxury and political influence—reports from private detectives 

indicate David Smith may have paid the salaries of civil servants under former Premier Michael 

Misick in 2008, paying bribes and kickbacks through well-known law firms and other 

intermediaries.
106

  These bribes are suspected to be behind Smith’s rapid rise to “Belonger” 

status in the Turks and Caicos.
107

  Misick called Smith a “model citizen” in 2007, praising his 

contribution to the TCI economy and joking that “Jamaica's misfortune is indeed the good 

fortune of Turks & Caicos.”   

At some point in 2007, Smith and Olint TCI became the target of investigations by the 

Turks and Caicos Financial Crimes Unit into alleged money laundering and behavior detrimental 

to the public interest.
108

  The NFA also wised up to Smith’s plan and began to investigate i-Trade 

due to concerns over extensive wire activity and the source of funds Smith used to capitalize the 

entity.  When i-Trade refused to produce Smith’s bank records during the investigation, they 
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repaid Smith’s membership interest in i-Trade, and on December 31, 2007, withdrew Smith as 

principal.
109

  On about June 30, 2008, the NFA filed a complaint in the U.S. against i-Trade, 

pointing to the discrepancy between paying 10% monthly returns to investors while engaging in 

consistently low levels of trading activity; the NFA, however, was unable to demine at that time 

whether Smith was running a Ponzi scheme.
110

   

Also in June of 2008, TCI Bank Ltd. filed a Suspicious Transactions Report (STR), 

regarding request for withdrawals related to an account held by Hallmark for the benefit of Olint 

TCI; Hallmark filed an additional STR on June 27
th

 concerning David and Tracy-Anne Smith’s 

ownership in the various Olint entities.
111

  Investigations continued and restraint orders were 

imposed by the TCI Attorney General on July 10, 2008 pursuant to the Proceeds of Crime 

Ordinance of 2007.
112

  The restraint orders prohibited the Smiths from accessing any of their 

personal accounts and froze the accounts of Olint in the TCI.   

Another Raid 

On July 15, 2008, the Financial Crimes Unit of the TCI Police Force raided Olint’s 

offices and Smith’s residence in Providenciales, seizing documents and computers.
113

  The TCI 

Supreme Court then imposed a gag order on July 17
th

 to prevent further disclosure of the 

restraint order proceedings.”
114

  What is noticeably absent surrounding this raid, as compared to 

the raid in Jamaica, is the TCI FSC.  While the FSC is responsible for the licensing, supervision 

and development of the financial services industry, akin to the Jamaica FSC, it was the police 

who approached the Supreme Court for a search warrant under the Theft and Proceeds of Crime 

Ordinances and the police who executed the raid.  Despite the TCI turning an initial blind eye to 

the Jamaican regulators in allowing Olint to operate in the TCI, perhaps they learned from 

Smith’s protracted legal struggle against the Jamaican FSC and were happy to let the 

Commission take a back seat as the drama unfolded.  

In August of 2008, the Turks and Caicos FSC requested that an auditor at 

PricewaterhouseCoopers (PwC) conduct due diligence on Olint TCI and is bank accounts.  

PwC’s report indicated that Olint TCI was insolvent and that the main function of the Olint-

Hallmark account had been to collect USD $220 million from members, and meet $156 million 

of redemption requests—a classic Ponzi scheme.
115

  Smith and his wife sought to have the 

restraint orders discharged, and on November 17, 2008, The High Court of the Turks and Caicos 
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Islands began its hearing of their applications—Justice Richard Williams adjourned the hearing 

until January 9, 2009, where the court refused to lift the freeze on Smith’s assets.
116

   

Smith was arrested in the TCI on February 5, 2009 on eight charges, including two 

counts of uttering false documents, four counts of forgery, and two counts of theft; he 

surrendered his travel documents and was released on USD$1 million bond.
117

  Based on PwC’s 

report and ongoing investigations, the TCI Attorney General (AG) petitioned on March 24, 2009 

for Olint TCI and TCI FX to be wound up under Sections 92 (f) and 94 Companies Ordinance on 

the ground that it is in the best public interest—the TCI Supreme Court wound up TCI FX and 

Olint TCI in April and June of 2009 and PwC was appointed Liquidator.
118

  Smith 

unsuccessfully attempted to block PwC’s appointment as liquidator, suggesting bias since PwC 

had previously acted at the request of the FSC.
119

   

On April 28, 2009, the NFA fined i-Trade $250,000 for failing to implement an adequate 

anti-money laundering program, and failing to file a Suspicious Activity Report (SAR) or 

investigate activities of Olint TCI and TCI FX.
120

  The NFA found i-Trade to be in violation of 

NFA Compliance Rules 2-9(c), 2-36(e).
121

On June 12, 2009, Smith was arrested for a second 

time in the TCI on four additional charges, including one count of theft, one count of obtaining 

property by deception, and two counts of money laundering; Smith posted $2mm bail.
122

   

Calling in the “Big Guns”  

Given that this was the most complex fraud case ever dealt with in the TCI, the Special 

Investigation and Prosecution Team (SIPT) headed by Helen Garlick (appointed by the U.K. in 

2009 to investigate potential government corruption) took over the case from the AG.
123

  While 
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thirty fraud-related charges were initially brought against Smith and is wife, the charges were 

reduced to seven as a result of Smith pleading guilty at the commencement of the proceedings on 

June 28, 2010.  His plea was driven by his wife’s (and brother Wayne’s) exposure, Smith’s 

lawyer indicated.
124

  Smith pled guilty to the following offenses: 

1. Conspiracy to defraud, contrary to common law—Olint TCI Limited 

2. Conspiracy to defraud, contrary to common law—TCI FX Limited 

3. Conspiracy to launder money, contrary to common law and Section 117(1)(e) of 

the Proceeds of Crime Ordinance 2007. 

4. Conspiracy to transfer criminal property, contrary to common law and Section 

117(1)(d) of the Proceeds of Crime Ordinance 2007. 

5. Converting USD$40 million in criminal property, contrary to Section 117(1) of 

the Proceeds of Crime Ordinance 2007. 

6. Concealing or disguising USD$220 million in criminal property, contrary to 

Section 117(1) of the Proceeds of Crime Ordinance 2007. 

7. Handling USD$180 thousand in stolen goods belonging to TCI FX Traders, 

contrary to the Theft Ordinance 1998.
125

 

Smith received the maximum credit from the court for his cooperation and plea, allowing 

Chief Justice Gordon Ward to reduce the sentence by one third.
126

  While Chief Justice Ward 

noted in his sentencing order that he did not take earlier incidents in Jamaica into account and 

accepted Smith’s remorse, he did scold Smith’s greed and selfishness calling him “no more than 

a common thief.”
127

  On September 30, 2010, Smith was sentenced to six and one-half years in 

Her Majesty’s Prison on Grand Turk, what has been criticized by some as a light sentence.
128

  

Smith also faces suits from disgruntled investors in the TCI and elsewhere.   

OLINT & THE EASTERN CARIBBEAN CURRENCY UNION 

 In August 2006, SGL Holdings Inc. (SGL) began operations in Grenada and Dominica to 

serve as a conduit for Olint TCI and TCI Traders.
129

  SGL investors had distinct, online account 

access and expected to earn an 8% monthly return from foreign exchange trading with Olint.
130

  

SGL routed investor deposits to Olint through financial institutions such as the Republic Bank 

Limited in Grenada.
131

  SGL attracted over USD$30 million in investment and operated without 
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any licenses.
132

  Investors were even encouraged on SGL’s website to contact the local regulators 

with any questions or concerns about SGL’s legitimacy.
133

  SGL unfortunately turned out to be 

just another source of funds for Smith and Olint to squander.   

 As previously mentioned, Olint made an attempt to operate in St. Kitts and Nevis on its 

way to the TCI.  St. Kitts and Nevis, along with Grenada and Dominica are members of the 

Eastern Caribbean Currency Union (ECCU) and subject to the monetary authority of the Eastern 

Caribbean Central Bank (ECCB).
134

  There are uniform Banking and Securities Acts for ECCU 

members, and all three countries have adopted these Acts into their local laws.
135

  The Ministry 

of Finance and ECCB regulate the banking industry, with local regulators filling in the gaps.  

The Eastern Caribbean Securities Regulatory Commission (ECSRC) is the regulatory body for 

the region’s securities industry.
136

   

In May 2007, SGL applied to the Grenada Authority for the Regulation of Financial 

Institutions (GARFIN) for a Money Services Business license.
137

  Given the complex nature of 

foreign exchange trading, GARFIN was initially unsure whether it had the authority under the 

Banking Act to regulate SGL and reached out to the ECSRC for clarification.
138

  Pending its 

review of SGL, the ECSRC issued a notice reminding investors of the Commission’s licensing 

requirements.
139

  Under both Grenada and Dominica’s Securities Acts, a person or entity is 

prohibited from conducting securities business without a license.
140

   

In April 2008, the ECSRC determined that SGL was inviting participation in a collective 

investment scheme or securities business without a securities license.
141

  In May and July of 

2008, the ECSRC issued cease and desist orders against SGL in Grenada and the Dominica for 

violating the Securities Acts, forbidding new membership.
 142

  At around the same time, Olint 

TCI was raided by the police and had its assets frozen, leaving investors in Grenada and 

Dominica at the mercy of the Turks and Caicos and U.S. court systems.   

THE U.S. TAKES CHARGE 

While no U.S. entities involved in the investment scheme bore the Olint moniker, Olint and 

Smith preyed on Caribbean ex-pats in Florida and throughout the U.S. and traded U.S. currency, 
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operating through U.S. based i-Trade (see supra) and JIJ Investments.  JIJ Investments was 

incorporated in Florida on March 5, 2006 by unindicted con-conspirators of Smith.
143

  Smith had 

a Subscriber Agreement with JIJ and opened accounts in the name of JIJ at various banks (Bank 

of America, Wachovia, Fidelity, JP Morgan), transferring funds and conducting transactions 

from i-Trade and personal accounts in TCI with various JIJ accounts.
144

  While JIJ was purported 

to invest in real estate, with a secondary focus on foreign exchange trading, it was ultimately a 

vehicle for Smith and his co-conspirators to avoid NFA oversight and launder money.
145

 

With U.S. investors and financial institutions harmed by Olint and Smith, the U.S. Attorney 

filed an Information in U.S. District Court, Middle District of Florida (Orlando) on August 8, 

2010—Smith waived Indictment, so the proceeding was by Information rather than 

Indictment.
146

  Smith was charged with twenty three counts of fraud, specifically four counts 

wire fraud in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1342, 3; one count of conspiracy 

to commit money laundering in violation of 18 U.S.C. 1956(h) and (a)(1)(B)(i); and 18 counts of 

money laundering in violation of 18 U.S.C. 1956(a)(1)(B)(i) and 2.
147

  Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 

982(a)(1)(c) and 28 U.S.C. 2461(c),the U.S. also seeks forfeiture of proceeds obtained through 

wire fraud, including $128 million, a Florida home, and other jewelry and personal effects.
148

  

In order for the U.S. to prove wire fraud, the prosecution must show: 

(1) That the Defendant knowingly devised or participated in a scheme to defraud, or for 

obtaining money or property by means of false pretenses, representations or promises; 

(2) That the false pretenses, representations or promises related to a material fact; 

(3) That the Defendant did so willfully and with an intent to defraud; and 

(4) That the Defendant transmitted or caused to be transmitted by wire radio, or 

television in interstate commerce some communication for the purpose of executing 

the scheme to defraud.
149

  

The elements of proof of Conspiracy are: 

(1) That two or more persons, in some way or manner, came to a mutual understanding to 

try to accomplish a common and unlawful plan, as charged in the indictment; and 

(2) That the defendant under consideration knowingly and willfully became a member of 

such conspiracy.
150

  

Finally, conviction for Money Laundering requires proof that: 

(1) That the Defendant knowingly conducted, or attempted to conduct, a “financial 

transaction” as hereafter defined;  
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(2) That the Defendant knew that the funds or property involved in the financial 

transaction represented the proceeds of some form of unlawful activity;  

(3) That the funds or property involved in the financial transaction did in fact represent 

the proceeds of “specified unlawful activity”—in this case the proceeds of wire fraud; 

and 

(4) That the Defendant engaged in the financial transaction with the intent to conceal or 

disguise the nature, the location, the source, the ownership, or the control of the 

proceeds of specified unlawful activity.
151

   

Extradition from TCI 

With the Information filed, the U.S. sought to extradite Smith but had to await the TCI 

trial and sentencing before proceeding.
152

  Smith’s attorney indicated that Smith would not fight 

extradition and would voluntarily appear in U.S. court whenever required, clarifying that his 

client’s cooperation was by no means an admission of guilt.
153

  Smith’s lawyer also attempted to 

dispel any rumors that his client was a fugitive, indicating that his Smith’s transfer to the U.S. 

was ultimately pursuant to a consent agreement or plea deal with the U.S. Attorney’s Office and 

therefore not an extradition per se.
154

  Smith signed the U.S. plea on July 21, 2010 during the 

processing of his extradition papers and surrendered to U.S. authorities, obviating the need for a 

formal request.  A warrant was issued for Smith’s arrest, and special agents from the U.S. 

Immigration and Customs Enforcement (ICE) Office of Homeland Security Investigations 

picked Smith up from Grand Turk on November 18 and flew him to Orlando where he was 

arraigned the following day before Judge Dietrich to answer the Information and plead not 

guilty.
155

   

The Turks and Caicos Islands (TCI) are a British Overseas Territory, with its own 

constitution and Governor, but falling under the United Kingdom’s ultimate jurisdiction.
156

  The 

U.S. and U.K are parties to a bilateral Extradition Treaty signed on March 31, 2003 (and ratified 

by the U.S. Senate on September 30, 2006).
157

  The Treaty applies to the Overseas Territories 

such as the TCI.
158

  The U.S also has similar agreements in place with Jamaica and St. Kitts and 

                                                 
151

 Id.  
152

 TURKS & CAICOS SUN, supra note 70. 
153

 Paul Henry, David Smith Won’t Fight Extradition, JAM. OBSERVER, Aug. 20, 2010, 

http://www.jamaicaobserver.com/news/Smith-won-t-fight-extradition_7889429. 
154

 John Glasgow, Olint Boss David Smith Now in U.S. Custody, TCI POST (last visited May 1, 2011), 

http://tcipost.com/wordpress/?p=5653. 
155

 News Release, U.S. Immigr. & Customs Enforcement, Jamaican Citizen Pleads Guilty to $220 Million 

International Ponzi Fraud and Money Laundering Scheme (Mar. 29, 2011), 

http://www.ice.gov/news/releases/1103/110329orlando.htm?f=m/.  
156

 Working with Overseas Territories, FOREIGN & COMMONWEALTH OFFICE (last visited May 1, 2011), 

http://www.fco.gov.uk/en/about-us/what-we-do/overseas-territories; See also U.K. OVERSEAS TERRITORY ASS’N, 

http://www.ukota.org/default.asp.  
157

 Carlos Torres, Senate Unanimously Ratifies U.S., U.K. Extradition Treaty, BLOOMBERG, Sep. 30, 2006, 

http://www.bloomberg.com/apps/news?pid=newsarchive&sid=aEgU_TIgfK1U&refer=home.  
158

  EXTRADITION TREATY BETWEEN THE GOV’T OF GREAT BRITAIN & THE GOV’T OF THE U.S. art. 22, para. 2(a) 

(2003) [hereinafter TREATY].  

http://www.jamaicaobserver.com/news/Smith-won-t-fight-extradition_7889429
http://tcipost.com/wordpress/?p=5653
http://www.ice.gov/news/releases/1103/110329orlando.htm?f=m/
http://www.fco.gov.uk/en/about-us/what-we-do/overseas-territories
http://www.ukota.org/default.asp
http://www.bloomberg.com/apps/news?pid=newsarchive&sid=aEgU_TIgfK1U&refer=home


P a g e  | 21 

 

Nevis.
159

  Pursuant to the U.S.-U.K. Treaty, the countries agree to extradite, or surrender to each 

other, persons sought by the requesting state for prosecution for extraditable offenses.
160

  The 

U.S. government has the power to regulate its commerce within foreign nations and apply 

Federal criminal statutes to crimes committed outside the U.S. but which have a dramatic impact 

in the U.S.
161

  It is through this extraterritorial application of law that the U.S. is able to combat 

transnational crime.  Even though David Smith was a Jamaican, according to Article Three of the 

Treaty, extradition shall not be denied on the basis of a person’s nationality, so long as the 

person has committed an offense that is “punishable under the laws in both States by deprivation 

of liberty for a period of one year or more or by a more severe penalty”, including conspiracy to 

commit such crimes.
162

  Requests are processed through diplomatic channels and must be 

accompanied by a warrant if appropriate.   

Smith Pleads Guilty in the U.S. 

Smith was arraigned on November 19, 2010, and held in custody pending trial.
163

  A nine day 

trial was initially set for January 2011, but the trial was continued to April 4, 2011 as the U.S. hit 

Smith’s defense team with 46,000 pages of discoverable material.
164

  This all proved moot, as 

Smith plead guilty on March 29, 2011 to all twenty-three counts, admitting to operating a 

massive Ponzi scheme and laundering investors’ money for his personal use.
165

  As in the TCI, 

by pleading guilty Smith was able to spare his wife from prosecution.
166

  Smith remains in 

custody of the U.S. Marshall pending sentencing on June 16, 2011 before Judge Mary S. 

Scriven.
167

  The U.S. is also investigating numerous Jamaicans for alleged money laundering in 

connection with the scheme, seeking extradition for 20 Jamaicans.
168

 

Under the U.S. Federal Sentencing Guidelines, Smith faces a period of imprisonment far in 

excess of his six and one-half year TCI sentence—the wire fraud counts carry a maximum 

penalty of 20 years in federal prison, a fine of $250,000, and a term of supervised release of not 

more than three years, while the money laundering counts each carry a maximum penalty of 20 

years in federal prison, a fine of $500,000 or twice the value of the property involved in the 

transaction, whichever is greater, and a term of supervised release of not more than three 

years.
169

  Despite these onerous guidelines, Smith’s attorney has suggested that jail time will not 
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be lengthy since these are maximums and there are no consecutive sentences on each count.
170

  

Furthermore, Smith is likely to receive a downward adjustment in his sentence because of his 

plea deal and cooperation.
171

  The prosecutors also indicated that they would not oppose Smith's 

request that any sentence imposed in the U.S. run concurrently with his prison time in the TCI.
172

  

While the SIPT would like to see Smith serve his jail time in the TCI first, it is highly unlikely 

that the U.S. will allow Smith to leave their custody.  

Restitution 

 In addition to forfeiting title or interest in any real or personal property traceable to 

Smith’s criminal behavior, the U.S. also seeks full restitution for Olint investors or any person 

directly or proximately harmed by Smith pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 3663.
173

  In conjunction with 

Smith’s plea, The U.S. Department of Justice announced a special e-mail account for victims to 

submit claims for restitution—usaflm.david_Smith_ponzi@usdoj.gov.
174

  Rumors that U.S. 

investors will receive priority are unfounded.
175

  It is very unlikely that victims will recover one 

hundred percent of their deposits.
176

   

Comparing the TCI and U.S. Pleas 

While the number of charges initially brought against Smith in the Turks and Caicos (30) 

outnumbered the charges put forth in the U.S. Information (23), Smith ultimately pled guilty on 

only seven counts in the TCI, versus twenty three in the U.S.  The TCI fraud-related charges 

sound in common law, whereas the U.S. charges are all codified, federal laws.  The fact that 

charges were brought under The Proceeds of Crime Ordinance does evidence the TCI’s 

appreciation for the transnational aspect of Olint’s crime, but prosecuting Smith’s fraud 

predominately on a common law theory suggests that the Caribbean is behind the times.  While 

the common law can reflect societal norms and adapt to changing circumstances in the law, its 

evolution is often slow in overturning precedent.
177

  Statutory law, on the other hand, is 

promulgated by the legislature and announces a country’s rigid position, warning would-be 

offenders of potential penalties for their offenses.   
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When the dust settles on Olint and its feeder clubs, Smith’s fraud may reach the USD$1 

billion mark.  Six-and-one-half years in prison is a slap on the wrist, and Smith will most likely 

be jailed in the U.S. for twenty-plus years, sending a message to Caribbean entrepreneurs waiting 

in the wings.  While Jamaican officials have been criticized for pawning-off Smith’s prosecution, 

perhaps they recognize that their current regime is ill-suited to handle complex, multi-

jurisdictional cases such as Olint.  The Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC), Federal 

Bureau of Investigation (FBI), ICE, NFA, Department of Justice (DOJ), Internal Revenue 

Service Criminal Investigations Unit, all played their parts in prosecuting Smith and Olint.  

Given the U.S.’s recent experience in prosecuting Bernie Madoff and Allen Stanford, the 

relevant players are warmed up and ready to go—perhaps the U.S. should be taking the lead in 

crimes of this complexity and magnitude.   

PREVENTING ANOTHER OLINT 

In order for regulators to adapt to a changing global environment and protect investors 

against another Olint Ponzi scheme, reform needs to come at all levels.   

Educating the Public 

 The success of the pitch used to lure investors into Ponzi schemes is only as successful as 

the financial sophistication of its audience.  Particularly in developing countries plagued by 

lower levels of financial literacy, educating investors is of utmost importance.  In light of the 

recent collapse of Olint and Cash Plus, the Jamaican FSC, with support from the Jamaica 

Bankers’ Association and the Insurance Association of Jamaica, plan to undertake a national 

campaign to educate the public, and protect gullible or uninformed investors.
178

  The FSC has 

hosted seminars on combatting unregulated investment schemes, a forum on financial literacy, 

and most recently announced a campaign of financial education in schools.
179

  “There is certain 

information that every prudent investor will have to see in order to justify the decision as to 

whether or not to make a certain investment.  That includes balance sheets, financial data about 

the company, your regulatory status—are you registered?”
180

  

 

Arming Regulators 

 Combatting Ponzi schemes requires prompt response and strong enforcement—the longer 

Olint remained open for business, the more harm Smith was able to cause to his victims.  As the 

International Monetary Fund has pointed out in its research, Caribbean regulators need clear 
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provisions to prosecute the schemes, broad investigative authority, authority to seek or impose 

civil or administrative remedies, and authority to seek emergency relief.
181

   

While a comparative lack of funding for Caribbean regulators certainly plays a role in the 

disparity between U.S. and Caribbean enforcement actions, throwing money at an untrained staff 

does little to solve the problem.  Training needs to be improved for investigators and judges, and 

technology brought up-to-date to combat internet-based, transnational fraud.
182

   

New Legislation 

 Foreign exchange trading on the internet is a dynamic area—in comparing securities acts 

in the Caribbean and U.S., it becomes clear that definitions within the acts require constant 

updating to reflect the market realities.  While courts may have the ability to apply case law from 

foreign jurisdictions by way of analogy in cases of first impression, this delays the enforcement 

process.  Legislators should endeavor to revise securities acts and relevant legislation more 

frequently in an effort to decrease delays in the enforcement process.   

 There is hope on the horizon, as steps are being taken in the Caribbean in response to 

Olint.  In Jamaica for example, a Task Force comprised of representatives from the BOJ, FSC, 

DPP, AG’s Chambers, and FID has been appointed to carry out a comprehensive review of 

Jamaica’s regulations and amend laws to take into account new trends in the global financial 

market.
183

  While this is a good start and all Caribbean nations should endeavor to follow suit, 

Smith’s ability to island-hop highlights the need for omnibus legislation and Caribbean-wide 

reform.   

Fighting Political Corruption 

What makes Olint of particular importance to investors and regulators worldwide is that 

Olint is considered by some to be “the first transnational Ponzi scheme with a political 

agenda.”
184

  David Smith’s ability to influence politicians and government officials in Jamaica 

and the TCI highlights problems with corruption facing these islands, in particular Jamaica.  The 

consensus among many Jamaicans is that corruption is still prevalent and persistent in all 

government institutions, negatively impacting development.
185

  Emails have surfaced linking the 

Jamaica Labor Party's (JLP) narrow 2007 victory to massive funding from Smith and Olint and 
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PM Bruce Golding has indicated that both political parties received contributions from Olint.
186

  

Sources indicate that Smith provided private jets and helicopters to JLP politicians.
187

  U.S. 

authorities are also following up on potential connections between Olint, the JLP, and Jamaica’s 

Shower Posse, a violent gang with a strong U.S. presence.
188

   

Ponzi schemes cannot be stopped if they garner political and public support—it is crucial 

that regulators retain their independence, and that legislation protect regulators in taking strong 

(and often controversial) actions in keeping with their appointed duties.
189

  As the court 

processes restitution requests, should these politicians be required to disgorge the monies that 

were received as a result of fraud?  Politicians in Jamaica seem to think they are protected 

because there are no laws governing political contributions.  Perhaps without campaign finance 

reform, Caribbean nations such as Jamaica will be unable to prevent Ponzi schemes from 

flourishing.
190

  The political implications for Jamaica are troubling.   

CONCLUSION 

 What started out as an informal investment club in Panama would flow to U.S. shores 

through regulated and unregulated channels of the financial world in what has become to a centi-

million dollar Ponzi scheme.  The actions of Olint and David A. Smith serve are a prime 

example of what can happen to investors when regulators turn a blind eye or when response time 

is inadequate.  As the internet penetrates deeper into the fabric of developing nations, an 

increasing number of people will be exposed to investing and online trading.  While no 

regulatory regime is perfect, in comparing Caribbean and U.S responses to Olint and David 

Smith, the U.S. appears to have taken the strongest stance.  Cross-border cooperation will 

become increasingly important in combatting transnational crime.  While defrauded investors 

await U.S. sentencing and restitution, they can only hope that David Smith is properly punished 

for the suffering and financial ruin that he has caused and that a portion of their deposits are 

returned.   
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